

Federal Aviation Administration William J. Hughes Technical Center Aviation Research Division Atlantic City International Airport New Jersey 08405 Monitoring Smoke Emissions Using the Heat Release Rate Test Apparatus (HR2)

August 2023

Technical Note

The research described in this report was funded by the FAA as part of its mission to improve aircraft safety. The views and opinions expressed are those of the author alone and do not necessarily represent the views of the FAA. The FAA assumes no liability for the contents or use thereof. The FAA has not edited or modified the contents of the report in any manner.



NOTICE

This document is disseminated under the sponsorship of the U.S. Department of Transportation in the interest of information exchange. The U.S. Government assumes no liability for the contents or use thereof. The U.S. Government does not endorse products or manufacturers. Trade or manufacturers' names appear herein solely because they are considered essential to the objective of this report. The findings and conclusions in this report are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily represent the views of the funding agency. This document does not constitute FAA policy. Consult the FAA sponsoring organization listed on the Technical Documentation page as to its use.

This report is available at the Federal Aviation Administration William J. Hughes Technical Center's Full-Text Technical Reports page: <u>www.faa.gov/data_research/library</u> in Adobe Acrobat portable document format (PDF).

Technical Report Documentation Page

| Form DOT F 1700.7 (8-72) | Reproduction of comp | pleted page authorized | | |
|---|---|---|--|-----------|
| 1. Report No. DOT/FAA/TCTN-23/62 | 2. Government Accession No. | | Recipient's Catalog No. | |
| 4. Title and Subtitle Monitoring Smoke Emissions using the H | Apparatus (HR2) | 5. Report Date August 2023 | | |
| | | | 6. Performing Organization Co ANG-E21 | de |
| ^{7.} Author(s) Michael Burns ¹ , Francis Hahn ¹ , Brian Cor | nover ² | | 8. Performing Organization Re | port No. |
| 9. Performing Organization Name and Address | | | 10. Work Unit No. (TRAIS) | |
| ¹ Federal Aviation Administration | ² Diakon Solutions LLC | | | |
| William J. Hughes Technical Center Fire Safety Branch, ANG-E21 Atlantic City International Airport, NJ 08405 | PO Box 222 Cape May Court House, I | NJ, 08210 | 11. Contract or Grant No. | |
| 12. Sponsoring Agency Name and Address | | | 13. Type of Report and Period | Covered |
| Senior Technical Experts Staff Office AI | P 020 | | Technical Note | |
| Senior Technical Experts Start Office, Ar | K-020 | | 14. Sponsoring Agency Code AIR-020 | |
| 15. Supplementary Notes | | | | |
| ^{16.} Abstract A study was conducted to determine the feasibility of adding the capability of measuring material smoke emissions to the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) rate of heat release test method, which is performed in a specially developed test device that is commonly referred to as the Heat Release Rate 2 Apparatus (HR2). A laser/sensor means of measuring cumulative smoke release, analogous to specific optical density <i>D_s</i> as measured in the FAA smoke emission test, was devised by using a continuous wave 670-nanometer wavelength laser and a thermopile power sensor. Tests performed in the FAA smoke emission chamber compared the output obtained from the legacy smoke chamber photometric system and the newly devised laser/sensor assembly measurement system. Neutral density light filters with varying percentage of light transmission, which found both measurement systems to be in good agreement over the entire range of filters tested. Material smoke tests using both measurement systems were performed to compare the material smoke emission. In general, peak smoke-density measurements obtained with the laser/sensor system were lower than those obtained with the photometric system, though test-to-test repeatability was similar for both measurement methods. Material smoke emission tests were performed in the HR2 apparatus with the laser/sensor assembly attached horizontally such that the laser light path spanned the width of the vertical exhaust gas stream. Cumulative smoke release data obtained during the HR2 tests were affected by the conditions at the exhaust stack of the HR2. The elevated temperature at the exhaust opening was found to increase the thermopile sensor output reading; though this was compensated for by setting the sensor baseline after the HR2 has reached a stable operating temperature. In materials that produce large flames from the HR2 ensore baseline after the HR2 has reached a stable operating temperature. In materials that produce large flames from the HR2 | | | | |
| release test in the HR2 apparatus, with mitigations employed to compensate for the elevated temperatures and possibility of visible flames at the HR2 exhaust opening. | | | | |
| 17. Key Words | | 18. Distribution Statement | | |
| Fire Safety, Heat Release Rate, HR2, Smo NBS, Post-crash | This document is ava National Technical I Virginia 22161. This Federal Aviation Ad Center at <u>www.faa.g</u> | ailable to the U.S. publ nformation Service (N' document is also avai ministration William J ov/data_research/libra | ic through the TIS), Springfield, lable from the . Hughes Technical | |
| 19. Security Classif. (of this report) Unclassified | 20. Security Classif. (of this page Unclassified | ge) | 21. No. of Pages 24 | 19. Price |

Contents

| 1 | Int | troduction1 |
|---|-----|---|
| | 1.1 | Objective1 |
| | 1.2 | Background1 |
| 2 | Ex | perimental setup1 |
| | 2.1 | FAA smoke emission test2 |
| | 2.2 | Specific optical density |
| | 2.3 | FAA rate of heat release test2 |
| | 2.4 | Smoke release rate |
| | 2.5 | Laser and thermopile power sensor assembly4 |
| | 2.6 | Neutral density filters |
| | 2.7 | Modifications to NBS test |
| | 2.8 | Modifications to HR2 test7 |
| | 2.9 | Test materials |
| 3 | Ex | perimental results9 |
| | 3.1 | Neutral density filter calibrations |
| | 3.2 | Material smoke tests in the NBS9 |
| | 3.3 | Material tests in the HR211 |
| | 3.4 | Comparison of results |
| 4 | Su | mmary15 |
| 5 | Re | ferences16 |

Figures

| Figure 1. FAA NBS smoke emission test apparatus2 |
|---|
| Figure 2. FAA rate of heat release test apparatus (HR2) |
| Figure 3. Continuous wave laser (left) and thermopile sensor (right) |
| Figure 4. Laser/sensor assembly mounted in the NBS chamber adjacent to the photometric |
| system |
| Figure 5. Laser/sensor light path distance as compared to the overall height of the NBS chamber |
| and the photometric system |
| Figure 6. Laser/sensor assembly mounted above the exhaust opening of the HR2 – front view |
| (left) and top view (right)7 |
| Figure 7. Thermopile sensor output (watts) vs. time (min) during HR2 Warmup period8 |
| Figure 8. D _s for material 1 in the NBS test10 |
| Figure 9. <i>D_s</i> for material 2 in the NBS test10 |
| Figure 10. D _s for material 3 in the NBS test11 |
| Figure 11. Heat release rate and SRR vs. time for material 1 test sample 112 |
| Figure 12. CSR for material 1 in the HR2 test |
| Figure 13. Heat release rate and SRR vs. time for material 2 test sample 1 |
| Figure 14. CSR for material 2 in the HR2 test |
| Figure 15. Heat release rate and SRR vs. time for material 3 test sample 114 |

Tables

| Table 1. Neutral density filter % light transmittance and corresponding D _s | 5 |
|--|----|
| Table 2. Test materials | 8 |
| Table 3. <i>D_s</i> for neutral density filters in the NBS and HR2 tests | 9 |
| Table 4. Average D _s for NBS tests | 11 |
| Table 5. Average CSR for the HR2 tests | 14 |
| Table 6. Comparison of D_s and cumulative smoke release (CSR) | 15 |

Acronyms

| Acronym | Definition | |
|---------|---|--|
| ASTM | American Society of Testing and Materials | |
| CSR | Cumulative smoke release | |
| FAA | Federal Aviation Administration | |
| HR2 | Heat Release Rate Apparatus 2 | |
| NBS | National Bureau of Standards | |
| ND | Neutral Density | |
| NPRM | Notice of proposed rule making | |
| SRR | Smoke release rate | |

Executive Summary

A study was conducted to determine the feasibility of adding the capability of measuring material smoke emissions to the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) rate of heat release test method, which is performed in a specially developed test device that is commonly referred to as the Heat Release Rate 2 Apparatus (HR2). A laser/sensor means of measuring cumulative smoke release, analogous to specific optical density D_s as measured in the FAA smoke emission test, was devised by using a continuous wave 670-nanometer wavelength laser and a thermopile power sensor.

Tests performed in the FAA smoke emission chamber compared the output obtained from the legacy smoke chamber photometric system and the newly devised laser/sensor assembly measurement system. Neutral density light filters with varying percentage of light transmission were placed in the light paths, and specific optical density was determined for each value of percentage light transmission, which found both measurement systems to be in good agreement over the entire range of filters tested. Material smoke tests using both measurement systems were performed on three different materials to compare the material smoke emission. In general, peak smoke-density measurements obtained with the laser/sensor system were lower than those obtained with the photometric system, though test-to-test repeatability was similar for both measurement methods. The vertically oriented laser/sensor system light path was unable to span the entire height of the chamber, unlike the photometric system, thereby excluding any smoke near the ceiling that may be denser due to the nature of smoke to stratify within the test chamber.

The same material sample set was then evaluated in the HR2 apparatus with the laser/sensor assembly attached horizontally such that the laser light path spanned the width of the vertical exhaust gas stream. Smoke density measurements obtained during the HR2 tests were affected by the conditions at the exhaust stack of the HR2. The elevated temperature at the exhaust opening was found to increase the thermopile sensor output reading; though this was compensated for by setting the sensor baseline after the HR2 has reached a stable operating temperature. In materials that produce large flames from the HR2 exhaust, thermopile sensor readings were observed to be significantly impacted, as the luminosity of the flames resulted in increased thermopile sensor output.

Overall, this study demonstrated the feasibility of measuring smoke density during a heat release test in the HR2 apparatus, with mitigations employed to compensate for the elevated temperatures and possibility of visible flames at the HR2 exhaust opening.

1 Introduction

1.1 Objective

The objective of this study was to determine the feasibility of adding the capability of measuring smoke density to the Federal Aviation Administration's (FAA) modified rate of heat release test device, commonly referred to as the HR2 apparatus.

1.2 Background

Federal Aviation Administration regulations require that for airplanes with capacity exceeding 20 passengers, specific cabin interior components with large surface areas must meet the requirements of a heat release rate fire test and a smoke emission test intended to improve survivability in the event of a post-crash fire. A notice of proposed rulemaking (NPRM) issued in 2019 proposed to remove the requirement for testing of smoke emissions, as FAA research data has demonstrated that heat release rate of cabin materials is the primary impact factor affecting occupant survivability rather than smoke emission (Interior parts and components fire protection for transport category airplanes, 2019). The data do not correlate smoke emission test results with post-crash survivability as they do with heat release test results, and therefore the FAA concluded that the smoke emission test requirement does not add to post-crash fire safety and therefore would be removed from the routine method of compliance. However, in theory there may exist a material with a low heat release rate but high smoke output, so the FAA included provisions in the NPRM to establish general performance standards for interior components which influence occupant survivability during a post-crash fire. Continual monitoring of material smoke output is recommended, either by the existing FAA smoke emission test, or another means of demonstrating that smoke emission does not impact post-crash survivability.

2 Experimental setup

This study was conducted in the Fire Safety laboratories at the William J. Hughes Technical Center in Atlantic City, NJ. The following apparatuses, equipment, and calculations were used to obtain data for this study.

2.1 FAA smoke emission test

The FAA National Bureau of Standards smoke emission test apparatus (NBS), is displayed in Figure 1. The test apparatus and method are described in detail in the FAA Aircraft Materials Fire Test Handbook (Federal Aviation Administration, 2000).



Figure 1. FAA NBS smoke emission test apparatus

2.2 Specific optical density

Specific optical density, D_s , is the metric used in NBS smoke tests to assess a material's smoke production. It is a dimensionless measure of the amount of smoke produced per unit area by a material when it is burned. D_s is calculated with knowledge of the percentage of light transmittance as shown in Equation 1.

$$D_s = 132 \log_{10} \left(\frac{100}{\% LT} \right)$$
 1

Federal Aviation Regulations (14 C.F.R. 25.853(d), Amdt. 25–116, 69 FR 62788, Oct. 27, 2004) require that the D_s during a 4-minute test not exceed 200.

2.3 FAA rate of heat release test

The modified rate of heat release test is conducted on the HR2 apparatus and is based on the currently required FAA rate of heat release test. Figure 2 displays a photograph of the HR2 test

apparatus. The test apparatus and method are described in detail in the Aircraft Materials Fire Test Handbook Revision 3 (Federal Aviation Administration, 2019).



Figure 2. FAA rate of heat release test apparatus (HR2)

2.4 Smoke release rate

The smoke release rate (SRR) is the metric used in the heat release test for assessing a material's smoke output when burning as described in ASTM E906/E906M (ASTM International, 2017). It is expressed in smoke units per minute per square meter of exposed material surface and can be calculated as shown in Equation 2.

Smoke Release Rate =
$$SRR = \frac{D}{kLA} \cdot \left(\frac{V_0}{t}\right)$$
 2

Where:

$$k$$
 = Absorption coefficient = 1.0 m^2 /smoke

- D = Optical density (absorbance) = $\log_{10} \left(\frac{100}{\% LT} \right)$
- L = Light path = 0.134m (stack width)
- A = Exposed surface area of specimen, m^2

$$\frac{V_0}{t} = \text{Flow rate of air leaving apparatus, } m^3/min$$

$$\frac{V_0}{t} = \frac{V_i}{t} \times \frac{T_0}{T_i}$$

$$\frac{V_i}{t} = \text{Flow rate of air entering apparatus, } m^3/min$$

$$\frac{T_{i,}}{T_0} = \text{Absolute temperature of air in and out of apparatus, respectively}$$

The cumulative smoke release (CSR) over a specified time interval can be calculated by determining the area under the curve of SRR plotted against time. This metric is analogous to the D_s calculated in the NBS smoke test, which considers the accumulation of smoke over time inside the smoke chamber.

2.5 Laser and thermopile power sensor assembly

A continuous wave 670-nanometer wavelength laser and a thermopile power sensor were paired together as an alternative means of measuring smoke emission. The laser/sensor assembly is shown in Figure 3. The thermopile sensor operates by absorbing and converting incident laser radiation into heat, which then flows into a heat sink. The temperature difference between the absorber and heat sink is converted into an electrical signal by a thermocouple junction. The output of the sensor, in watts, is proportional to the amount of laser light received by the sensor. As smoke or other media enter the laser light path, the light is reflected, refracted, or absorbed, reducing the amount of light received by the sensor and thus the wattage output. The percent light transmittance was determined as the difference between the sensor baseline, with only clear air between the laser and sensor, and the test measurement, when an obscuration may be present in the light path, reducing the sensor output signal below the baseline.



Figure 3. Continuous wave laser (left) and thermopile sensor (right)

2.6 Neutral density filters

Neutral density (ND) filters were used as a means of calibration among the differing smoke measurement systems and apparatuses. The filters attenuate the light signal between the light source and the sensor by a fixed and known amount when placed in the light path. Three filters, ND2, ND4, and ND8, corresponding to percent light transmittance values of 50.1, 25.1, and 12.6, respectively, were used individually and stacked together to provide percent light transmittance values from 100% down to 0%. D_s is calculated in the same manner as the smoke emission test, as shown in Table 1.

| Filters | % Light Transmittance | Ds |
|------------------|-----------------------|-------|
| NONE | 100 | 0.0 |
| ND2 | 50.1 | 39.6 |
| ND4 | 25.1 | 79.2 |
| ND8 | 12.6 | 118.8 |
| ND2 + ND8 | 6.3 | 158.4 |
| ND4 + ND8 | 3.2 | 198.0 |

Table 1. Neutral density filter % light transmittance and corresponding D_s

2.7 Modifications to NBS test

The NBS test apparatus was slightly modified in this study to accommodate the addition of the laser/sensor assembly to ensure simultaneous comparative measurement with the NBS photometric system. Figure 4 displays the laser/sensor assembly mounted in the NBS chamber. It is significant to note that the light path between the laser and sensor is unable to span the entire height of the chamber due to the physical dimensions of the equipment, whereas the NBS photometric system does span the entire height. This is displayed in the schematic in Figure 5. This difference in span could affect the amount of smoke that is quantified by the laser/sensor

assembly, as smoke tends to stratify within the chamber resulting in non-uniform smoke density from floor to ceiling, and smoke near the top of the chamber may not be captured in the light path.



Figure 4. Laser/sensor assembly mounted in the NBS chamber adjacent to the photometric system



Figure 5. Laser/sensor light path distance as compared to the overall height of the NBS chamber and the photometric system

2.8 Modifications to HR2 test

The HR2 test was slightly modified to allow for the measurement of smoke output at the exhaust opening. The laser/sensor assembly was mounted above the HR2 apparatus as displayed in Figure 6. The distance between the laser and sensor was 5.25 inches and the assembly was 2 inches above the HR2 exhaust opening.



Figure 6. Laser/sensor assembly mounted above the exhaust opening of the HR2 – front view (left) and top view (right)

Initial testing revealed sensitivity of the thermopile sensor to the elevated temperature at the exhaust opening of the HR2. Figure 7 shows the thermopile sensor output as a function of time during a sixty-minute HR2 warmup period. During this time, the HR2 exhaust temperature ranges from room temperature to approximately 572°F. It is evident that the thermopile sensor is sensitive to the surrounding temperature, as a 15% increase in power output was found during this time. Therefore, the thermopile sensor baseline was determined after the HR2 reached a stable operating temperature.



Figure 7. Thermopile sensor output (watts) vs. time (min) during HR2 Warmup period

2.9 Test materials

Three materials were chosen for this study based on prior knowledge of D_s values obtained in the NBS smoke test. Information about the materials is provided in Table 2. The D_s values were chosen to bracket the pass/fail criteria of $D_s < 200$.

| Material | Material Description | Material Thickness | Approximate D _s |
|------------|---|--------------------|----------------------------|
| Material 1 | Honeycomb Panel with Decorative | 0.25 inch | 50 |
| Material 2 | Double-sided Tape (6 layers of Tape A) on Aluminum | 0.030 inch | 215 |
| Material 3 | Double-sided Tape (6 layers of Tape B) on Aluminum | 0.030 inch | 190 |

Table 2. Test materials

Material 1 was a honeycomb panel with a decorative face, 0.25-inch-thick with an approximate D_s of 50. Material 2 was a 0.030-inch-thick aluminum substrate with six layers of double-sided tape (Tape A) and an approximate D_s of 215. Material 3 was also a 0.030-inch-thick aluminum substrate with six layers of a different type of double-sided tape (Tape B) and an approximate D_s of 190. Five test coupons of each material system were tested in each apparatus to determine repeatability of the smoke measurements.

3 Experimental results

3.1 Neutral density filter calibrations

A series of measurements were obtained by placing the neutral density filters in the light path of the NBS photometric system, the laser/sensor assembly in the NBS chamber, and the laser/sensor assembly above the HR2 apparatus. D_s was calculated from the percent light transmittance from the NBS photometric system and the thermopile sensor output. The measurements are displayed in Table 3. Good agreement was found for each neutral density filter combination across the three different scenarios. This indicated that for a known amount of light signal attenuation, both measurement systems provided a similar signal reduction and D_s .

| Neutral Density Filters | NBS Photometric | NBS Laser/Sensor | HR2 Laser/Sensor |
|----------------------------|-----------------|------------------|------------------|
| ND2 | 38.2 | 37.7 | 38.1 |
| ND4 | 80.9 | 79.4 | 78.8 |
| ND8 | 103.1 | 98.9 | 99.5 |
| ND4 + ND2 | 118.9 | 116.9 | 117.0 |
| ND8 + ND2 | 142.5 | 139.9 | 137.9 |
| ND8 + ND4 | 182.3 | 181.5 | 179.3 |
| ND8 + ND4 + ND2 | 223.6 | 227.5 | 220.1 |

Table 3. D_s for neutral density filters in the NBS and HR2 tests

3.2 Material smoke tests in the NBS

The D_s from five different tests of materials 1, 2, and 3 in the NBS test chamber are displayed in Figure 8, Figure 9, and Figure 10, respectively. The blue bars represent the D_s as measured with the NBS photometric system, while the orange bars represent the D_s as measured with the laser/sensor assembly. Across all three materials, the NBS photometric system provided a higher D_s than the laser/sensor assembly. This may be due to the difference in light path distance, as the laser/sensor system is unable to capture the smoke across the entire height of the test chamber.

Table 4 provides the average, standard deviation, and relative standard deviation for both methodologies inside the NBS chamber for all three materials. The NBS photometric system provided a relative standard deviation ranging from 9.1% - 10.9%, indicating good repeatability from test to test. The laser/sensor system in the NBS provided a relative standard deviation of

10.0% - 12.1%, only slightly higher than the NBS photometric system. This indicates that the laser/sensor system is nearly as repeatable as the NBS photometric system.



Material 1





NBS Photometric NBS Laser and Sensor

Figure 9. D_s for material 2 in the NBS test



Figure 10. D_s for material 3 in the NBS test

| Table 4. | Average | D_s for | NBS | tests |
|----------|---------|-----------|-----|-------|
|----------|---------|-----------|-----|-------|

| | NBS Photometric | | | NBS Laser/Sensor | | |
|----------|-----------------|-----------------------|-----------------------------------|------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------------------|
| Material | Average | Standard Deviation | Relative Standard Deviation | Average | Standard Deviation | Relative Standard Deviation |
| 1 | 50.1 | 5.45 | 10.9% | 30.92 | 3.74 | 12.1% |
| 2 | 214.86 | 19.60 | 9.1% | 165.44 | 17.71 | 10.7% |
| 3 | 190.16 | 18.03 | 9.5% | 140.61 | 14.02 | 10.0% |

3.3 Material tests in the HR2

Heat release rate and SRR measurements from one test of material 1 in the HR2 are displayed in Figure 11. The CSR for five different tests of material 1 in the HR2 are shown in Figure 12. The heat release rate is represented by the purple line and the SRR is represented by the green line. As the material burns, both the heat release rate and the SRR increase, which indicates smoke emitted by the sample is obscuring the light path between the laser and thermopile sensor. The CSR is calculated by integrating the SRR over the five-minute test interval. The average CSR across all five tests was 6.7 with a standard deviation of 1.5. The relative standard deviation, or the standard deviation divided by the mean, was 22.9%.



Figure 11. Heat release rate and SRR vs. time for material 1 test sample 1



Figure 12. CSR for material 1 in the HR2 test

Heat release rate and SRR measurements from one test of material 2 in the HR2 are displayed in Figure 13. The CSR is calculated by integrating the SRR over the five-minute test interval. The CSR for five different tests of material 2 in the HR2 are shown in Figure 14. The average CSR across all five tests was 68.8 with a standard deviation of 2.8. The relative standard deviation was 4.0%.



Figure 13. Heat release rate and SRR vs. time for material 2 test sample 1



Figure 14. CSR for material 2 in the HR2 test

Material 3 presented a challenge to the laser/sensor measurement technique. Heat release rate and SRR measurements from one test of material 3 in the HR2 are displayed in Figure 15. During HR2 tests, material 3 burned with very tall flames that could be seen exiting the HR2 exhaust opening. This heat and light passed through the light path of the laser/sensor assembly, amplifying the power output of the thermopile sensor, resulting in an increase rather than a decrease in the sensor output as the test progressed. This resulted in erroneous calculations for the SRR and CSR rate for these tests. Though this affects the measurement of smoke emission, it is likely that any material producing visible flames from the exhaust opening will also exceed the acceptance criteria for the rate of heat release test.



Figure 15. Heat release rate and SRR vs. time for material 3 test sample 1

The overall results for the HR2 Laser/Sensor system are displayed in Table 5, including the average CSR, standard deviation, and relative standard deviation.

| | HR2 Laser/Sensor | | | | |
|----------|------------------|--------------------|-----------------------------|--|--|
| Material | Average | Standard Deviation | Relative Standard Deviation | | |
| 1 | 6.7 | 1.5 | 22.9% | | |
| 2 | 68.8 | 2.8 | 4.0% | | |
| 3 | N/A | N/A | N/A | | |

Table 5. Average CSR for the HR2 tests

3.4 Comparison of results

An overall comparison of results is displayed in Table 6. Although the CSR for material 3 was unable to be determined, it can be seen that based on materials 1 and 2, the CSR as measured in the HR2 trends in the same manner as the NBS photometric D_s and the NBS laser/sensor D_s . This gives confidence that the laser/sensor measurement system in the HR2 can provide a quantitative assessment of the smoke output of a material and can be used to monitor material performance over time to verify that a material smoke output is consistent with those traditionally used.

| Material | NBS Photometric D _s | NBS Laser/Sensor D _s | HR2 Laser/Sensor CSR |
|----------|--------------------------------|---------------------------------|----------------------|
| 1 | 50.1 | 30.92 | 6.7 |
| 2 | 214.86 | 165.44 | 68.8 |
| 3 | 190.16 | 140.61 | N/A |

Table 6. Comparison of D_s and cumulative smoke release (CSR)

4 Summary

Test results indicate that it is possible to obtain useful smoke density measurements from the FAA rate of heat release HR2 apparatus test. A laser and thermopile sensor system was found to provide smoke density measurements similar to the FAA smoke density (NBS) chamber with a similar level of test-to-test repeatability. When installed above the HR2 apparatus, the laser/sensor was affected by the elevated temperatures at the HR2 exhaust opening, providing an increase in sensor output. This was compensated for by allowing the HR2 to reach a stable operating temperature prior to setting the sensor baseline power-output. Visible flames exiting the HR2 exhaust opening were found to significantly amplify the sensor output signal, resulting in erroneous smoke release rate calculations. This may be mitigated by the use of narrow band filters between the laser and sensor, filtering out all other wavelengths but the 670-nanometer laser light. Additional testing is necessary to confirm this.

5 References

14 C.F.R. 25.853(d). (Amdt. 25-116, 69 FR 62788, Oct. 27, 2004). In Compartment Interiors.

- ASTM International. (2017). ASTM E906/E906M-17. Standard Test Method for Heat and Visible Smoke Release Rates for Materials and Products Using a Thermopile Method. ASTM.
- Federal Aviation Administration. (2000). Chapter 6 Smoke test for cabin materials. In *Aircraft Materials Fire Test Handbook* (pp. 6-1 to 6-16). FAA.
- Federal Aviation Administration. (2019). Appendix L- HR2 Test Apparatus and Equipment Details. In *Aircraft Materials Fire Test Handbook, Revision 3* (pp. L-1 to L-33). FAA.
- Interior parts and components fire protection for transport category airplanes. (2019). 84 Fed. Reg. 31747 (proposed July 3, 2019) (to be codified at 14 C.F.R. pts. 25, 27, 29, 91, 121, 125, and 135), 31747-31769.